
The Rejuvenation of

Old Strathcona, Edmonton
1985-1989  Recollections by David Murray, Architect AAA

The beginnings of its remarkable evolution began in the 1970s. 
This is an exploration of the tricky decision-making we undertook to

bring new life to this urban neighbourhood while attempting to
respect the historical authenticity of our subject buildings.

The Strathcona Hotel in 1979 Photo: James Dow



In 1985, the Old Strathcona Foundation initiated what was known then as

The Old Strathcona  Building Front Improvement Work Plan

The 1980s in Alberta was a time of high unemployment due to a severe 
economic recession. The Federal government launched a multi-year 
program known as Section 25 of the Employment Insurance Act to 
encourage hiring of unemployed trades, where individuals are 
participating in specific employment support measures, allowing them to 
maintain EI benefits while engaged in activities that help them return to 
work. The program was very beneficial to both the historical 
conservation efforts of the Old Strathcona Foundation and the building 
owners in the Old Strathcona area. The program paid the wages of the 
workers and provided an additional amount as a matching contribution 
for design services and construction materials.

 The Program was undertaken in two phases:
 
Phase 1: 1985-1987
Phase 2: 1988-1989

Phase 1 was managed by John Wilkinson, Wilkinson Construction Management.

Phase 2 was managed by Bill Griffith, Rivendell Management.

Edmonton Journal Sept. 19, 1987



Edmonton Journal September 12, 1987
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Whyte Avenue Streetscapes in 1979
103 Street (Gateway Boulevard) to 105 Street 

All photographs on this page by James Dow
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Wee Book Inn
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One of our many projects was a small commercial building, the Wee Book Inn used bookstore, next to the 
historic 1891 Strathcona Hotel. It was, actually, two buildings - a 7.3m wide brick building and a narrow 
2.2m wide annex, which had been an undeveloped lot prior to WW1, later filled in with, first, a one-
storey building and later with an added second story.  

“Darwin Luxford opened the first Wee Book Inn location on Whyte Avenue in 1971, setting up 
in a building not much more than two metres wide. The narrow structure would inspire 
the “Wee” in Wee Book Inn.” 

Edmonton Journal September 23, 2021   

Wee Book Inn

Darwin Luxford and his wife Leola started their 
bookstore in the tiny 2.2m wide lot in 1971. 
Within 2 years they also leased the adjacent 
building to expand their operations. They purchased 
both properties in 1979. It was then that they 
dedicated the narrow lot building to be their 
Comic Book Store annex.

Edmonton Journal



The Wee Book Inn was one of the first buildings in the Old Strathcona Building Front Improvement 
Work Program. With the cooperation of the Wee Book Inn owners, we decided to restore an original 
brick façade, hidden behind the stucco. But if we were to uncover the brick building, what were we 
going to do with the infill building in the adjacent vacant lot? This was the Wee Book Inn comic 
bookstore, so my proposal was to construct a comic book façade for a comic bookstore. It was ironic 
moment in my career since I was professionally dedicated to the study and authentic restoration of 
historic buildings, not constructing false history, so I was amused by the permission I was given to 
bring a light-hearted idea to the serious business of conservation.   

Wee Book Inn

Unfortunately the life of this building was all too short. There was a fire in the neighbouring 
Antiquarian Book Store building in 1990, four years after the completion of the new facade, 
with a partial collapse into the roof of the Wee Book Inn. The damage was so severe that the 
Wee Book Inn building and the comic book façade were demolished and replaced. 



Darwin Luxford inspecting his damaged building in 1991     Carey Luxford

Edmonton Journal December 27, 1990
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Commercial Hotel

circa 1912                    EA-10-274



Commercial Hotel

Edmonton Journal July 4, 1986



Commercial Hotel

1984 January 1985

Our client in 1984 for the Commercial Hotel project was Herb Ortleib. 
He and his wife Johanna purchased the hotel in 1971. We, at the Old 
Strathcona Foundation, were looking for opportunities to increase the 
retail presence on Whyte Avenue and saw an opportunity with this 
building. Herb’s musical entertainment initiative, which turned into 
“Blues on Whyte”, was just beginning in 1984. Herb wanted to expand 
his tavern with a large rear addition. We saw this as an opportunity to 
open up the Whyte Avenue façade as a new retail opportunity. 

Herb agreed and the OSF supported the hotel expansion. The Building 
Front Improvement Program was able to not only improve the hotel’s 
appearance with improved storefronts and important masonry repairs, 
but also construct an entirely new retail storefront that was initially 
occupied by The Paint Spot.     



Commercial Hotel

The Commercial Hotel was design in 1911 by architects Wilson and Herrald. 
It replaces an earlier wood-framed hotel building.

Wilson & Herrald designed many landmark buildings in Strathcona 
including the Town Hall, Fire Hall, Library, Commercial Hotel, Princess 
Theatre, and Rutherford House on the University of Alberta campus.

Both Arthur Gordon Wilson and David Easton Herrald were born in 
Scotland; Herrald in Edinburgh in 1881, and Wilson a year later in 
Dundee. Wilson graduated from the architectural program at University 
College, Dundee, in 1901 and then worked in that city for five years. 
Herrald likely studied in Edinburgh. The pair emigrated together to 
Winnipeg in 1906 where Wilson briefly worked for another firm, 
Stevenson & Patterson, before forming a partnership with Herrald a year 
later.

Wilson and Herrald moved to Strathcona in 1908 and capitalized greatly 
on the construction boom that was just starting to take off. Over the next 
five years the firm designed many public, commercial, and residential 
buildings in Strathcona. From 1910 until the start of the First World War 
they opened a branch office across the river in Edmonton, from which 
they completed their only ecclesiastical structure, the gothic First 
Presbyterian Church. In 1920 Wilson and Herrald moved their office to 
Calgary. They continued to practice there for three years until Herrald 
moved to California and opened a private practice.

                                                                                                                             Edmonton Historical Board

Strathcona Plaindealer January 30, 1912



The Commercial Hotel

Edmonton News Plaindealer October 14, 1908
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Historic Baalim Block, no date



Commercial Hotel

1985 1985

At the time, we did not have any clear photos of the original 
storefront design. The design for the new storefronts was based 
on the typical way that historic Whyte Avenue storefronts were 
designed to imitate the pattern of windowpanes without 
significantly altering the existing storefront construction. The 
colour was chosen to reflect the colour of the brick in order to 
make a more harmonious composition of the hotel façade.   



Commercial Hotel

In 1971 Mom and Dad took a financial risk of a 
lifetime by investing with complete strangers in a 
rather run-down hotel on Whyte Ave known as 
The Commercial Hotel. In 1984 Dad was not 
satisfied with the status of the business and 
decided to bring blues bands and artists up from 
the Chicago area to see if patrons would have any 
interest. It was an immediate success and Blues on 
Whyte was born. By 1987 Dad built a venue 
addition to the historical Hotel and 31 years later 
the bar has become a destination for blues lovers 
from all over North America. Many artists have 
graced the stage and rocked the room from up and 
coming talents to Juno and Grammy Award 
recipients. Dad had a genuine allegiance to his 
customers, employees, working artists and 
musicians. He felt privileged to meet so many 
wonderful, talented, enthusiastic people from all 
aspects of the hospitality and entertainment 
industry.

From the obituary of Herb Ortlieb:

1985



1987

The Building Front Improvement Work Program was able to not only improve the hotel’s appearance 
with improved storefronts, but also construction of an entirely new retail storefront for The Paint Spot.     

Photo: James Dow



The Corner Block
8137 104 Street

EA-10-274circa 1912



1979 photo: James Dow

The Corner Block



The Corner Block

1984

1985, preparing for the paint removal from the brick



Gerrit HENDRICKS Obituary
Published by Edmonton Journal from Aug. 7 to Aug. 8, 2015.

HENDRICKS, Gerrit Henk
February 14, 1936 – August 4, 2015
It is with deep sorrow we announce the passing of Gerrit 
Henk Hendricks on August 4, 2015 at the age of 79 years. 
He will be forever loved and missed by all his friends, 
family and his friend and partner, Ismael Flores, care giver 
extraordinaire; his son David, his sisters, Henny De Graff 
(Wim) of The Netherlands, Lucy (Jack) Strangman of 
Edmonton and his brother John Hendricks of The 
Netherlands. Henk was a member of the Rotary Club of 
Edmonton South for over 50 years and a long-time 
member of the World Floral Council.

The owner of this corner building in 1985 was Gerrit Hendricks. 
He owned several buildings on Whyte Avenue and a flower 
shop on 103 Street (Gateway Boulevard) south of Whyte 
Avenue. He agreed to allow us to work on his building by 
removing the paint from the brick and repairing and painting 
the pressed metal cornice. We also repaired the small brick 
annex at the rear of the building and added a sloping parapet
to bring greater attention to this little facade.        

The Corner Block

1987



The Corner Block

1987



1987

The Corner Block



Archibald Block
10470 Whyte Avenue

1979 James Dow



Archibald Block

Archibald Block during WW2

By the 1940s, the Archibald Block façade had been modified as shown to make the dual
retail occupancies more distinctive. The brick façade was not yet covered in stucco.  



Archibald Block

Archibald Block 1970s

Glenbow 71-RO138-02 and 04



The Archibald Block is an important example of pre-World War One commercial architecture in Strathcona. 
As a one-storey masonry commercial building, the Archibald Block embodies the transition between two phases 
of construction in the community. The building’s scale is reminiscent of the area’s pre-1907 wood-frame 
commercial buildings, while the masonry construction anticipated the much larger brick structures erected 
during the pre-war building boom. The Chapman Brothers Building, the Tipton Investment Company Building 
embody the pre-1907 wood-framed architecture of the area, while the Douglas, Richards and Sheppard’s Blocks 
reflect the more substantial masonry construction of the early 1900s. As the only pre-1914 one-storey brick 
commercial building in Old Strathcona, the Archibald Block is an important transitional building that adds 
considerably to the architectural variety of Whyte’s Avenue’s 104 block and of the heritage district.

The Archibald Block is also significant, in part, due to its association with Alberta’s Arabic-speaking business community 
in the early twentieth century. From 1912 through 1928, the building was home to Morie & Co. Confectioners, 
owned and operated by the Morie family, who immigrated to Canada from present-day Lebanon via the 
United States in 1901. Brothers Fred, Joe and George Morie made their way to Edmonton in the 1910s and 
opened their first store in the Archibald Block in 1912. In 1913, Joe opened a second store at 10350 Whyte Avenue, 
giving the family a significant presence in the heart of Strathcona’s commercial core. Like other Arabic-speaking 
businessmen in Strathcona, the Mories established an extensive commercial network across northern Alberta, 
selling goods in Janvier, Fort McMurray, Fitzgerald and Fort Smith. In 1925, Fred and his wife moved to Fort Smith, 
leaving George in charge of the store in the Archibald Block. 

Archibald Block
Edmonton Bulletin June 15, 1909 

“Dr. Archibald expects to begin work this week on the erection of his new brick block at the corner of Whyte Avenue and 
First Street West. The present building on the front of the lot will be removed to the rear by Contractor Radford.”

Edmonton Bulletin August 19, 1909
Work on W. H. Sheppard's and Dr. Archibald’s Block is speedily approaching completion and the Richard's block 
is fast assuming shape.

Statement of Significance, Alberta Culture



Archibald Block

Edmonton Bulletin June 15, 1921 Edmonton Journal Sept 29, 1960

Edmonton Bulletin July 24, 1923

Plaindealer April 25, 1911



Archibald Block

Before renovations in 1984

This building in 1984, like the Disco Shoes business, was owned by 
Albert Green. He was a friend of our project manager, Bill Griffth. It was 
because of this comfortable association that Mr. Green agreed to 
participate in the building front improvement program. The 
improvements were quite simple. We reorganized the building signs to 
reveal the original decorative pediment and paint the building. For a 
colour choice, I recommended green as a tribute to the owner.



Archibald Block

1979

1987

1989 after the streetscape improvements
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Strathcona Fire Hall No. 1



Strathcona Fire Hall No. 1

Built between 1909 and 1910, the heritage value of Strathcona Fire Hall 
No. 1 lies in its status as the oldest major fire hall in Alberta and one of 
the earliest extant public buildings in the Old Strathcona district. It also 
possesses heritage value as an excellent example of early twentieth-
century fire hall construction and design. It is a local landmark and a 
vital contributor to the historic ambience of Edmonton's Old Strathcona 
area.

Designed by local architectural firm Wilson and Herrald and built by 
contractor J. M. Eaton, Strathcona Fire Hall No. 1 is typical of fire hall 
facilities of the period. The building features three vehicle doors 
surrounded by quoined round arches, a classical cornice, and a prominent 
bell tower. At the time of its construction, the fire hall accommodated 
nine horses in its rear stable and three fire wagons. Its upper level 
featured a chief's office, general hall, bedrooms, band room, and a 
bathroom with a shower. Two fire poles connected the second storey to 
the ground floor.

Fire Hall No. 1 was later renumbered Edmonton Fire Hall No. 6 after the 
amalgamation of Edmonton and Strathcona in 1912. The building 
transitioned to a furniture warehouse (Strathcona Furniture on
103 Street, from 1954 to 1974) before being transformed into the 
Walterdale Playhouse by Walterdale Theatre Associates. The theatre is 
now one of the oldest amateur theatre groups in Western Canada, 
producing a variety of plays in its unique historic venue.

Edmonton Bulletin August 18, 1909 

Alberta Culture: HeRMIS



Strathcona Fire Hall No. 1

1984

For two decades, between 1954 and 1974, the firehall was used as a 
warehouse for Strathcona Furniture, located in the nearby Crawford Block.  



Strathcona Fire Hall No. 1

Beginning the Building Front Improvement Work Program in  1985



Strathcona Fire Hall No. 1

1985



Strathcona Fire Hall No. 1

1985



Strathcona Fire Hall No. 1

1985



Strathcona Fire Hall No. 1

1989

Sketch for the reconstruction of the original pediment, 1985



Strathcona Fire Hall No. 1

1989

1989
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Mart on Whyte

1979 James Dow



Mart on Whyte

In 1987 this was one of last remaining early 20thC. wood-framed facades
on Whyte Avenue. The other storefronts were the Chapman Brothers 
Building and the Tipton Investment Building, both of which have been 
designated as provincial historic resources. When we started the Mart on 
Whyte project, the storefront was original but the upper transom glass 
was covered. The owner was reluctant to uncover and reveal what we 
assumed were the original transom lights, so we replicated them on the 
upper paneling. The decision was made to construct the bulkhead panels 
under the storefront windows in brick which was probably not the original 
material. It was a practical decision. 

 

circa 1987 storefront restoration underway completed



Mart on Whyte

1987



Mart on Whyte

Christl Bergstrom  Art on Whyte #052  
prismacolour pencil crayon on paper 30”x22” 1987



Crawford Block
8222 Gateway Boulevard

Edmonton Archives



Crawford Block

Constructed in 1912, the Crawford Block is significant because of its architecture, which 
is an excellent and well-preserved example of Edmonton’s commercial architecture during 
the Edwardian era. The Crawford Block is significant because of its association with the 
development of the Strathcona community, one of south Edmonton’s oldest settled 
neighbourhoods dating from the arrival of the railway in 1892, and a separate city until 
amalgamation with Edmonton in 1912. The Crawford Block is also significant because of its 
association with Herbert H. Crawford, the designer, builder and first owner of the building. 
Crawford immigrated to Alberta from Ontario in 1898 and was a resident of Edmonton 
from 1903 until his death in 1946. Crawford was a successful real estate auctioneer and 
served as the Member of the Provincial Legislature for Strathcona.

Edmonton Journal May 14, 1928



Crawford Block

1987

Edmonton Journal March 20, 1922

Under the Building Front Improvement Work Program, we completely repointed 
the brick façade and repaired the rear of the roof-top parapet which had severe 
weather damage. The owner at the time was Leo Siegel who had his office on 
a podium at the front of the store. He was enthusiastic about the façade repairs 
but was reluctant to uncover the storefront transom windows behind his rather 
large sign. It was not until ownership of the building was acquired by “Artifacts” 
owners David Lalonde and Jeong-ae that the complete storefront was revealed.      



Crawford Block

Edmonton Journal May 18, 1983



Crawford Block

19941991



Crawford Block

Google Streetview 2025

The Crawford Block was designated as a Municipal Historic Resource on November 17, 2014. 
With designation came a city financial incentive which finally allowed the storefront to be 
restored and fully exposed.    

Google Streetview 2009



Crawford Block
Its future guaranteed

Edmonton Journal, August 29,2014



Sheppard Block
10314 Whyte Avenue

1979 Photo: James Dow



1979 Photo: James Dow
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Sheppard Block



1979 Photo: James Dow

Sheppard Block

Born in Ontario in 1863, William Henry Sheppard travelled through the 
United States and Canada in his youth as an itinerant worker and 
building contractor. In 1894, Sheppard arrived in Strathcona and set 
down roots. In the decade after his arrival, he became a prominent 
entrepreneur in his new community, managing several hotels and 
becoming heavily invested financially and professionally in the area's 
brewing industry. His business successes helped to establish his social 
prestige and paved the way for his entry into local politics. Sheppard 
served several terms as a Town Councillor for Strathcona and in 1906 
was elected Mayor. 

In 1907, he constructed the impressive Sheppard Block on Whyte 
Avenue - a reflection of his commercial achievements and prominence 
among Strathcona's elite class.

Canada’s Historic Places

Edmonton Bulletin
November 24, 1944

A young W.H. Sheppard
Let’s Find Out Podcast, Sept 28, 2016 



Sheppard Block

1979 Photo: James Dow

This pre-WW1 building façade was in very poor condition and needed a lot of repair. 
The face brick was pulling away from the wall and required substantial reconstruction. 
The original horizontal sill bands were severely eroded. They were replaced with pre-cast 
replicas that were manufactured onsite. The original storefront intact when we started 
the project so the building owner agreed that it should be repaired and restored. 

1987



Sheppard Block

Photo: James Dow1989



The Legacy of the Old Strathcona Foundation Building Front Improvement Work Program
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